2006

Kathryn Sohm v. Dixie Eye Center : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

III. JURISDICTION

This appeal is taken from an Order granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment entered on February 21, 2006 in the Fifth Judicial District Court by the Honorable G. Rand Beachum. This court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Section 78-2a-3 (2) (j) of the Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES & STANDARD(S) OF REVIEW

Did the trial court commit reversible error in the standard it employed to determine whether Mrs. Sohm met her burden with respect to establishing the damages element of a prima facie negligence claim?

Did the trial court commit reversible error in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and ruling that the testimony provided by Mrs. Sohm's medical expert was insufficient to satisfy the damages element of a prima facie negligence claim?

Did the trial court commit reversible error in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants on an issue that was not raised by the Defendants and that neither party had an opportunity to brief?

"On review of a summary judgment . . . the party against whom the judgment has been granted is entitled to have all the facts presented, and all the inferences fairly arising therefrom, considered in a light most favorable to him." Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104 (Utah 1991). An appellate court accords no deference to a trial court's legal

conclusions given to support the grant of summary judgment, but reviews them for correctness.” Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991).

V. THE ISSUES ON APPEAL WERE PRESERVED IN THE TRIAL COURT

The issues on appeal were preserved in the trial court, to the extent possible,¹ in Plaintiff’s Memorandum opposing Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (Rec. 318-422); oral argument advanced by Plaintiff in opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (Attached as Exhibit C); and Plaintiff’s Notice of Appeal, appealing the Fifth District Court’s Ruling and Order granting summary judgment in Defendants’ favor (Rec. 470-71).

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case; Course of Proceedings & Disposition in Court Below.

This case arises out of medical negligence committed by the Defendants in the care and treatment they provided to Plaintiff Kathryn Sohm. Mrs. Sohm was diagnosed with glaucoma and began receiving treatment for glaucoma in 1980. Defendants treated Ms. Sohm for her glaucoma for a period of six years beginning in September, 1995 through July, 2001. During this six year period, Defendants failed to properly manage Mrs.

¹The trial court granted summary judgment on grounds other than those raised by the Defendants in their Motion for Summary Judgment. However, the trial court’s ruling was apparently based upon the arguments and evidence presented by the parties in support of and opposition to said Motion for Summary Judgment. Accordingly, the issues raised as a result of the trial court’s ruling are preserved in the memoranda and arguments advanced by the parties in support of and opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

Sohm's glaucoma and, particularly during the last year of treatment provided by Defendants, committed numerous breaches of the standard of care in their treatment and management of Mrs. Sohms glaucoma. As a result of Defendants' negligent care, Mrs. Sohms sustained irreversible damage to her optic nerve and permanent loss of vision.

Mrs. Sohms medical expert, Robert Stein, M.D., testified during his deposition that Defendants breached the applicable standard of care in the medical treatment they provided to Mrs. Sohms. He further testified that to a reasonable degree of medical probability Defendants' respective breaches of the standard of care proximately caused Mrs. Sohms to sustain damage to her eyes, including a permanent loss of vision.

Following Dr. Stein's deposition, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that Mrs. Sohms had failed to establish **causation** because Dr. Stein was unable to testify to a reasonable degree of medical probability with respect to the percentage of vision loss Mrs. Sohms would have experienced **in the absence** of any negligence. Mrs. Sohms opposed Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and oral argument was heard by the trial court.

After reviewing the memoranda and evidence submitted by the parties and hearing oral argument, the trial court declined to grant summary judgment on the issue of causation raised by the Defendants, specifically stating that "[o]n the proximate cause element, I find sufficient testimony in the deposition of Dr. Stein for Plaintiff to avoid summary judgment." (Rec. 446-450, 462-64). Notwithstanding the trial court's

conclusion that Plaintiff met her burden on the sole issue raised and challenged by Defendants in their Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants on the altogether separate issue of damages, finding that “Plaintiff has failed to provide any expert testimony which would allow a jury to understand all of the possible causes of Plaintiff’s vision loss and then to reach a just verdict as to the damage which was caused by Defendant’s negligence.” (Rec. 449). The trial court further concluded that “it is not sufficient for Plaintiff to simply provide expert evidence that negligence proximately caused damage.” (Rec. 449, 463). Mrs. Sohm appeals the trial court’s Ruling and Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of the defendants.

B. Statement of the Facts.

1. Plaintiff Kathryn Sohm was diagnosed with glaucoma and began receiving treatment for glaucoma in 1980. (Rec. 333, 411-12)

2. Defendants treated Plaintiff for her glaucoma for a period of six years beginning in September, 1995 through July, 2001. During that six year period, Dr. Snow obtained only two visual field tests on Mrs. Sohm. (Rec. 333, 407)

3. According to Plaintiff’s expert, Dr. Robert Stein, the standard of care requires the administration of a visual field test anywhere from every three to six months or, at a minimum, once per year. (Rec. 333, 368)

4. Defendant Snow testified in his deposition that regular and timely visual field tests were not obtained because Mrs. Sohm failed to show for two of the tests. (Rec. 334, 407)

5. Contrary to Defendant's Snow's initial testimony, he later admitted that he only asked Mrs. Sohm to submit to Visual Field Tests on three occasions during his six years of treatment, to wit: September 12, 1995, September 2, 1997 and March 7, 2001. (Rec. 334, 355-63, 418-21)

6. Of the three Visual Field Tests requested, Mrs. Sohm missed the one scheduled for September, 1997, but had one performed in September, 1995 and another in April, 2001 (rescheduled from the March 7, 2001 date). Id.

7. When Mrs. Sohm missed the Visual Field Test in September, 1997, Defendant Snow admits that he did not attempt to reschedule the test. (Rec. 334, 407-08, 415-16)

8. Defendant Snow further admits that he did not request or schedule a Visual Field Test for Mrs. Sohm at all during calendar years 1996, 1998, 1999 and/or 2000. (Rec. 334, 418)

9. Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Robert Stein, testified in his deposition that the standards in this country for treating glaucoma require observation and monitoring of three things, to wit: the appearance of the optic nerve, the intraocular pressures, and the visual field tests. In Dr. Stein's opinion, not one of these particular measurements can

stand alone. Glaucoma “is a wily disease and requires the utmost vigilance to make sure that it’s under control.” (Rec. 335, 367)

10. According to Dr. Stein, Defendant Snow breached the applicable standard of care in failing to conduct regular, serial visual field tests in his treatment of Mrs. Sohm’s glaucoma. (Rec. 335, 368)

11. At the time of Plaintiff’s initial visit to Defendant Snow’s office, in September, 1995, Defendant acknowledges that Plaintiff’s intraocular pressures were 16 and 17 and that her glaucoma was well controlled. (Rec. 335, 355-63)

12. In fact, Defendant Snow recommended that Mrs. Sohm continue with her current glaucoma medications and made no changes to her medications at that time. Id.

13. Plaintiff’s next appointment with Dr. Snow was seven months later in April, 1996, at which time Dr. Snow noted intraocular pressures of 24 and 22 and concluded that Mrs. Sohm’s glaucoma was under “adequate to marginal control.” Despite the rise in pressures and the change from well controlled glaucoma to “adequate to marginal” controlled glaucoma, Dr. Snow did not alter Mrs. Sohm’s medications and simply recommended that she continue as usual with the same medication regimen. (Rec. 335, 413)

14. Over the course of the next three years, Plaintiff’s glaucoma continued to be generally and most often classified by Defendant Snow as under “adequate to marginal” control. (Rec. 336, 355-63)

15. Then, in June, 2000, Mrs. Sohm's intraocular pressures significantly increased, and Defendant Snow characterized her glaucoma as "under **inadequate** control." (Rec. 336, 355-63)

16. Prior to June, 2000, the highest intraocular pressure recorded by Dr. Snow for Mrs. Sohm's right eye was 29 and her left eye was 22 (excluding the tensions taken of the left eye following the cataract removal and Yag laser procedures performed in May, 1996 and May, 1999 respectively). Id.

17. On June 7, 2000, however, Mrs. Sohm had intraocular pressures of 60 and 46. Five days later, her pressures were still at 35 and 29. Dr. Snow characterized Mrs. Sohm's glaucoma as under **inadequate** control on that visit. (Rec. 336, 355-63)

18. Thereafter, Mrs. Sohm saw Dr. Snow for appointments on July 10, 2000, July 31, 2000, August 7, 2000, December 14, 2000, February 9, 2001 and April 18, 2001. On each of those appointments, with the exception of the appointment in August, Mrs. Sohm's intraocular pressures remained at the highly elevated levels of: 30/32; 36/35; 30/26; 34/38 and 42/40 and her glaucoma continued to be classified as under **inadequate** control by Dr. Snow. Id.

19. During Mrs. Sohm's February 9, 2001 appointment, her pressures were 34 and 38. In spite of these extremely elevated pressures, as well as Dr. Snow's inability to bring the pressures back down to an adequate level after months and months of attempting to do so through the administration of eye drop medications, Dr. Snow's plan

set forth in his chart following this visit was for Mrs. Sohm to return to his office for a recheck in 4-6 months and to continue with her eye-drop medications. (Rec. 337, 355-63)

20. Notwithstanding this recommendation, Mrs. Sohm was seen for an appointment two months later on April 18, 2001. During this appointment, Mrs. Sohm's intraocular pressures were 42 and 40 (after drops that morning). (Rec. 337, 355-63)

21. Additionally, Mrs. Sohm had a visual field test at that time that showed a significant change and/or dramatic loss of her visual field.

22. In spite of Mrs. Sohm's significantly elevated pressures, and the visual field test results, Dr. Snow scheduled a cataract surgery, with a recommendation to consider a filtering surgery (trabeculectomy) to address her glaucoma after the cataract removal. He also instructed Mrs. Sohm to "continue current glaucoma medications" in spite of the fact that they had failed to bring her pressures down since her last appointment. (Rec. 337, 355-63)

23. Dr. Snow admitted during his deposition that it was his recommendation that Mrs. Sohm have her right cataract removed **before** having a trabeculectomy and/or any other surgical procedure that would address her glaucoma. (Rec. 338, 422)

24. In the expert opinion of Dr. Stein, it was a breach of the standard of care in this particular case to perform the cataract surgery before a trabeculectomy to bring Mrs. Sohm's pressures under control. Specifically, Dr. Stein testified that "it was apparent that

the intraocular pressure was fairly elevated at the time prior to that surgery. It's generally not indicated to perform a cataract operation before considering the definitive lowering of the intraocular pressure." (Rec. 338, 370)

25. Furthermore, Dr. Stein testified that it would not be reasonable to perform a cataract surgery before performing a trabeculectomy in this case because Mrs. Sohm's visual field test taken one month prior to her surgery showed significant damage that her glaucoma had caused, and "there is no reason to subject [her optic] nerves to the potential for elevated eye pressure following surgery." (Rec. 338, 375)

26. Even Dr. Snow admits that it is possible to see pressures go up with a cataract surgery. (Rec. 338, 414)

27. Notwithstanding the "out of control" nature of Mrs. Sohm's glaucoma and the visual field test results indicating a substantial change in Mrs. Sohm's visual field, in May, 2001, Defendant Snow performed surgery on Mrs. Sohm to remove a cataract from her right eye. Prior to the surgical procedure, the intraocular pressure in Mrs. Sohm's left eye was recorded as 54. There was no measurement recorded with respect to the intraocular pressure of Mrs. Sohm's right eye prior to surgery. (Rec. 339, 355-63)

28. Following Mrs. Sohm's right cataract removal, her intraocular pressures continued to remain uncontrolled. At the time of her one-week post-op visit, her pressures measured 31 and 47. Id.

29 Dr. Stein is critical of Dr. Snow's failure to follow up again with Mrs. Sohm in a day or two instead of telling her to come back in one week. (Rec. 339, 377)

30. At the time of her two week post op visit, her intraocular pressures measured 19 and 36. (Rec. 339, 355-63)

31. In addition to the high intraocular pressures, Mrs. Sohm also reported pain, redness, swelling and "milky" vision during her post-operative appointments. She also complained to Dr. Snow that she could not see out of her right eye. (Rec. 339, 355-63 and 400)

32. Mrs. Sohm's next appointment was on June 29, 2001. During this appointment, her intraocular pressures measured 60 and 48. (Rec. 340, 355-63)

33. Even Dr. Snow testified during his deposition that when a pressure hits 60, "you have to wonder what's going on." (Rec. 340, 410)

34. Dr. Snow further admitted during his deposition that intraocular pressures of 60 could be damaging the optic nerve. (Rec. 340, 417)

35. According to Dr. Stein, he is unaware of any eye that can tolerate that level of pressure for any length of time. (Rec. 340, 378)

36. During Mrs. Sohm's June 29, 2001 appointment, Dr. Snow characterized her glaucoma as "out of control." (Rec. 340, 355-63)

37. In spite of Mrs. Sohm's critical situation, and Dr. Snow's own characterization of her glaucoma as "out of control", Dr. Snow did nothing with respect

to providing Mrs. Sohm with emergent treatment or referring her to another medical care provider for surgical intervention. Instead, he reduced the pressure in her right eye only (with side-port drainage from the surgical site), discontinued her steroid medication and told her to come back in **two weeks**. (Rec. 341, 355-63)

38. Dr. Stein testified that he has “never heard of an eye that can tolerate that pressure for any length of time. Yet, Dr. Snow asked the patient to return in two weeks. **I believe that to be completely out of line.**” (Rec. 341, 378)

39. According to Dr. Stein, Defendant Snow’s failure to treat Mrs. Sohm’s glaucoma as an emergent condition during the June 29, 2001 appointment was a breach of the standard of care and proximately caused the loss of vision she sustained. In his deposition, Dr. Stein compared the manner in which Dr. Tuck handled the situation when Mrs. Sohm presented to his office two months later with almost the identical intraocular pressures as she presented to Dr. Snow during the June 29, 2001 appointment:

You might extrapolate this entry and overlay it to the entry of the subsequent treater, Dr. Tuck, in Virginia with almost very similar findings, very high pressure, out of control. One doctor, Dr. Snow, chose to essentially ignore the emergent problem. Dr. Tuck, on the other hand, treated it as it should have been, as an acute, emergency requiring immediate attention.”

(Rec. 341, 371-72)

40. Dr. Stein further testified that it was “imperative to definitively make sure that the pressure was lowered immediately after surgery so as not to create any further nerve damage.” (Rec. 342, 376-77)

41. Following Mrs. Sohm's June 29, 2001 appointment, Dr. Snow left town on vacation.

42. Thereafter, on July 9, 2001, Mrs. Sohm was in agony with her eyes and went to Defendants' office to see Dr. Snow. She had been experiencing pain all night and believed she needed medical attention. Defendant Snow's office informed Mrs. Snow that Dr. Snow was out of town, but told her that she could come back later and see Dr. Ricks. (Rec. 342, 400)

43. Accordingly, Mrs. Sohm returned to the office that same day for an appointment with Dr. Ricks. On that occasion, Mrs. Sohm's intraocular pressures measured 38 in both eyes. (Rec. 342, 355-63)

44. In addition, she presented with a number of complaints and problems, and expressed serious concern to Dr. Ricks regarding the condition of her eyes. She explained to Dr. Ricks that she was very upset because she could not see well and her eye was hurting her. She asked him what he could do for her. (Rec. 342, 401)

45. Dr. Ricks seemed very casual about Mrs. Sohm's high pressures and told her he could give her another drop. He also told her that she needed an attitude adjustment and wrote her a Poem entitled "Medication for Attitude" on a prescription pad. The poem read: For every problem under the sun, there is a solution or there is none. If there is one hurry and find it, if there is none, never mind it. Id.

46. Dr. Ricks then told her that she needed to make an appointment to see Dr. Snow when he returned from vacation in “10 days or so.” (Rec. 343, 401)

46. According to Dr. Stein, the standard of care required Dr. Ricks to either follow Mrs. Sohm on a day-to-day basis to verify that her pressures were dropping quickly or to refer her for a more aggressive treatment elsewhere. (Rec. 343, 381)

47. Mrs. Sohm acknowledges that she did not make another appointment to see Dr. Snow when he returned from his vacation because she was not satisfied with the care she had been receiving. Under the circumstances, Mrs. Sohm felt that she needed to have someone else look at her eyes. Mrs. Sohm’s daughter in Roanoke Virginia had told her that there was an excellent glaucoma specialist there that she should see. Consequently, when Defendants failed to address Mrs. Sohm’s needs and/or respond to her post-operative complaints regarding high pressures, pain, irritation and an inability to see very well, she decided to go to Virginia to visit her daughter and see the glaucoma specialist there. (Rec. 343, 402-03)

48. Mrs. Sohm believed she had time to get in to see another physician for a second opinion because Defendants had been so casual about her condition and had not indicated to Mrs. Sohm that there was any urgency with respect to the condition of her eyes. (Rec. 343, 404) In the interim, she continued to take the drops prescribed by Defendants. Id.

49. The first appointment Mrs. Sohm was able to get was in early September, 2001, at which time she saw Dr. Tuck. According to Mrs. Sohm, Dr. Tuck was alarmed at her extremely high pressures and immediately referred Plaintiff to Dr. Cotter for emergent treatment. (Rec. 344, 405)

50. Dr. Cotter immediately brought Plaintiff's pressures down and scheduled her for emergent trabeculectomy procedures in both eyes. (Rec. 344, 405)

51. Dr. Cotter stated in a letter to Alan Crandall, M.D. that Mrs. Sohm's "markedly elevated intraocular pressures caused Mrs. Sohm to develop atrophy of the neuroretinal rim which is contributing to the visual field deterioration." (Rec. 344, 389-91)

52. Although the excellent care and treatment provided by Dr. Cotter has arrested Mrs. Sohm's glaucoma and stabilized the condition of her eyes, the damage caused by Defendants' failure to properly treat Mrs. Sohm's glaucoma, prior to the time she became a patient of Dr. Cotter's, is significant. Mrs. Sohm described her current condition as follows:

I am legally blind in my right eye. Both of my eyes are in constant misery on a daily basis. My left eye is like looking through a fog. My eyes water, and I feel like a cotton ball is in my right eye. (I wear an eye-patch much of the time). I must wear sunglasses in my house and outside most of the time. Extreme glare from light in both eyes are foggy and images look like a white out. I see only slight images.

Because Defendant Ricks seemed so unconcerned about my condition and elevated eye-pressures, and reassured me that I was fine and was in need of a change of attitude only, rather than medical attention, I did not seek emergency treatment at that time. I have since learned that Zion Eye Institute (Dr. Lewis) in St. George, a competitor of Dr.

Snow's Eye Center, could have taken care of my eyes and lowered my eye pressures at that critical time if Defendant Ricks had only referred me to them.

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