2006

Kathryn Sohm v. Dixie Eye Center, Ronald L. Snow, and Jeffry R. Ricks : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In Anderson v. Nixon, the Utah Supreme Court discussed the quantum of proof necessary to establish a causal connection between a health care provider's negligence and a Plaintiff's injury. See id., 104 Utah 262, 139 P.2d 216, 220, overruled on other grounds by Swan v. Lamb, 584 P.2d 814 (Utah 1978). In Anderson, the Plaintiff alleged the physician was negligent in failing to treat him for a blood infection which ultimately

⁵ Tingey involves allegations of negligence related to an automobile accident. It is not a medical negligence action. Indeed, Plaintiff fails to cite a single case involving medical malpractice allegations in support of her arguments in this matter.

resulted in amputation of a portion of his leg. See id. Finding that the Plaintiff failed to produce sufficient expert testimony to link the negligence with the injury, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

There was no expert evidence in this case that if defendant had done these things at that time the condition which caused the eventual amputation of Plaintiff's leg could have been avoided. No expert testified that had Dr. Nixon recognized the symptoms of osteomyelitis he could have alleviated or cured it by using the ordinary skill, care, and knowledge of a physician practicing in that vicinity.

Id. at 220.

In Anderson, the Utah Supreme Court recognized that the cause and cure of osteomyelitis are peculiarly within the knowledge of medical experts and not a matter of common knowledge. Id. Significantly, the Court went on to state: "In this case there was no evidence that anything Dr. Nixon did or failed to do after osteomyelitis developed caused the end result. In the absence of such expert testimony there is nothing upon which a jury can base its finding on the proximate cause of the injury." Id. Furthermore, in King v. Searle Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 832 P.2d 858, 862 (Utah 1992), the Court stated: "The law is clear that an undesired complication or result from medical treatment does not by itself imply that the result was caused by someone's breach of a duty of due care." Id. (citing Talbot v. Dr. W.H. Groves' Latter-Day Saints Hosp., Inc., 21 Utah 2d 73, 440 P.2d 872, 873 (1968)).

As in Anderson, in order to satisfy her burden regarding causation, Plaintiff must present expert testimony to establish that if Defendants had provided the care Plaintiff alleges was appropriate, she would not have suffered the same loss of vision in any event.⁶ Significantly, however, Plaintiff's own expert witness and one of her treating doctors both testified that Plaintiff could have suffered the same loss of vision that she experienced even with the best of care. Like the expert in Anderson, Plaintiff's own expert, Dr. Stein, could not state that anything Defendants did or did not do caused Plaintiff's vision loss. Thus, Plaintiff failed to show that it was Defendants' negligence, rather than some other cause, that led to her vision loss. In short, as was argued below, Plaintiff's reliance on the fact that she lost vision due to her glaucoma while under Defendants' care is insufficient to satisfy her burden of proof on the element of causation.

Furthermore, all doctors involved in this case have identified many potential causes of Plaintiff's loss of vision. In its ruling, the District Court recognized that

⁶ See Dalley v. Utah Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr., 791 P.2d 193, (Utah 1990) (“[R]es ipsa loquitur is an evidentiary doctrine aiding in the proof of negligence; it has no bearing on the issue of causation, which must be separately and independently established” (quoting Anderton v. Montgomery, 607 P.2d 828, 834 (Utah 1980))); see also Chadwick v. Nielsen, 763 P.2d 817, 822 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); King, 832 P.2d at 862 (“when the circumstances and the probabilities as to the causative factors of an accident lie within the ken of experts, expert evidence is necessary to establish a foundation that gives rise to an inference of negligence.”); Hunt v. Hurst, 785 P.2d 414, 416 (Utah 1990) (Plaintiff failed to present any evidence contradicting Defendants' expert's opinions that injury could have resulted in the absence of negligence and that other non-negligent sources could cause the condition).

Plaintiff's expert could not rule out other causes, or explain the causal relationship between the multiple possible causes of Plaintiff's alleged damages, stating: "Dr. Stein agreed that there were several other possible or probable causes which may have contributed to Plaintiff's vision loss, but he was unable or unwilling to opine as to their causal effects." (R447-48) The District Court summarized its ruling, stating: "Plaintiff has failed to provide any expert testimony which would allow a jury to understand all of the possible causes of Plaintiff's vision loss and then reach a just verdict as to the damage which was caused by Defendants' negligence." (R447-48 (emphasis added)). As in Anderson, Plaintiff's expert's testimony is insufficient to create an issue of fact for the jury.

Likewise, in Talbot v. Dr. W.H. Groves' Latter-Day Saints Hospital, Inc., the Utah Supreme Court determined a medical malpractice Plaintiff failed to meet his burden under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur because he could not establish the cause of his injury and he left open the possibility of non-negligent causes. See Talbot, 440 P.2d at 874. A Plaintiff cannot satisfy the burden of proof by pointing out two **possible** causes or suggesting that Defendants' care might have caused some of the injury.⁷ Thus, in all medical malpractice cases, including even res ipsa loquitur cases, the Utah Supreme

⁷ See also Forrest v. Eason, 123 Utah 610, 261 P.2d 178, 180 (1953) (rejecting Plaintiff's argument that if injury arises from two or more causes, one of which is health care provider's negligence, then it presents a jury question).

Court has consistently required a Plaintiff to prove a causal link between the negligence and the injury.⁸ In this case, the District Court correctly concluded that Plaintiff could not meet her burden.

B. The District Court Properly Required Plaintiff's Expert to Come Forward With More Than Speculation To Find Defendants' Care More Likely Than Not Caused Identifiable Damages.

In making its ruling, the District Court correctly noted that the causal relationship between Defendants' treatment and Plaintiff's vision loss was outside the knowledge of the jury. The District Court ruled Plaintiff's expert had to assist the jury in establishing a causal link between Defendants' care and Plaintiff's injuries. At a minimum, this burden required, to a reasonable medical probability, evaluating other potential non-negligent causes and demonstrating a link between Defendants' care and Plaintiff's injuries.

Plaintiff's expert, however, could not rule out or otherwise account for other causes and, in fact, admitted that non-negligent conduct and even the progressive nature of glaucoma itself could have caused Plaintiff's vision loss. Thus, the District Court correctly ruled that the jury could not render a judgment for Plaintiff without resorting to unsupported conjecture or speculation. The District Court's ruling is consistent with "[t]he general

⁸ See Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 740 P.2d 262, 266 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (Plaintiff could not establish a causal connection between negligence and her injury, nor could she rule out non-negligent potential causes of her injury); see also Nixdorf v. Hicken, 612 P.2d 348, 354 n.17 (Utah 1980) (applying res ipsa loquitur to relieve Plaintiff of her burden with respect to standard of care but noting that expert testimony would be required to establish proximate cause).

rule regarding the certainty of an expert's opinion [which] is that the expert may not give an opinion which represents a mere guess, speculation, or conjecture." Thurston v. Workers Compensation Fund of Utah, 2003 UT App 438, ¶20, 83 P.3d 391.

In Arnold v. Curtis, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to a doctor because Plaintiff's expert's affidavit failed to establish causation. See Arnold, 846 P.2d 1307, 1310 (Utah 1993). The Defendants' expert had opined that "in any event, had an earlier diagnosis been made, the outcome would have been the same" Id. Finding Plaintiff's expert's affidavit deficient, the Court stated: "The affidavit of [Plaintiff's expert] is devoid of any statement of proximate cause and in no way counters or contradicts the opinion of [Defendants' expert] that an earlier diagnosis of [Plaintiff's injury] would not have permitted earlier treatment or surgery for that condition." Id.⁹

Likewise, in this case, Plaintiff has failed to meet her burden of proof when faced with Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. "Just because there is proof that *some* of the claimed injury and loss was caused by the breach of duty does not necessarily mean that *all* damages resulted from the breach." Dunn v. Cadiente, M.D., 516 N.E.2d 52, 55

⁹ See also Dunn v. McKay Burton, McMurray & Thurman, 584 P.2d 894 (Utah 1978) (no evidence that attorney's negligence caused Plaintiff's damages); Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 893 P.2d 598, 601 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (expert testimony that "the facts of this total accident are so vague and unidentifiable that it is really hard to be precise in coming to any conclusion because there's . . . no precise data on which to draw those conclusions.").

(Ind. 1988) (emphasis in original) (holding Plaintiff failed in his burden of proof and not entitled to recover for all of his injuries where Plaintiff's expert admitted that some of Plaintiff's injuries were inevitable and may not relate to doctor's negligence).

Like the cases cited above where courts have ruled that an expert's testimony is insufficient, in this case, Plaintiff's expert expresses his opinions merely in terms of "may" or "could." (R243-45,250,252-53,397). For example, Dr. Stein was critical of Defendants' care and opined that Defendants were not aggressive enough in their treatment of Plaintiff's glaucoma. (R260) Nevertheless, Dr. Stein's deposition testimony only indicated causal **possibilities** when asked specifically to explain this vague statement:

- Plaintiff's injuries could occur even with the best of care (R243);
- Plaintiff's fluctuating eye pressures could occur for variety of reasons, including lack of patient compliance (R244-45);
- Progression of glaucoma and deteriorating vision is matter of luck and he can't say what the future holds for Plaintiff in this case (R249);
- Injuries from glaucoma do not automatically equate to negligence (R250);
- Glaucoma can be difficult to control with even the best of care (R250-51);
- With aggressive treatment, Plaintiff might not have lost vision (R252);

- He cannot state with any medical certainty what her loss of vision may have been absent negligence (R252-53);
- Patient compliance could have been an issue, and non-compliance issues arose at a critical time (R254-55);
- Some patients can withstand higher eye pressures with no damage, and some patients have optic nerve damage when pressures are within normal ranges (R256);
- List of non-negligent factors that may cause elevated eye pressures (R257-58);
- He is uncertain as to effect of Plaintiff's unrelated cataract on her vision loss (R261)

Dr. Stein's deposition testimony unequivocally reveals that he was unable to state to a reasonable degree of medical probability that Plaintiff's partial loss of vision would not have occurred absent Defendants' alleged negligent care. As such, his opinions were merely possibilities and not probabilities. Under Utah law, where expert testimony is required to establish a Plaintiff's burden, expert testimony which only raises possibilities instead of probabilities is insufficient.

II. DR. STEIN'S AFFIDAVIT IS INCONSISTENT WITH AND CONTRADICTS HIS DEPOSITION TESTIMONY.

Utah law is well-settled that when a party takes a clear position in a deposition, he may not thereafter attempt to raise an issue of fact by his own affidavit which expressly or

impliedly contradicts his deposition testimony unless he can explain the discrepancy. See Best v. Daimler Chrysler Corp., 2006 UT App 304, ¶13, 141 P.3d 624; Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170, 1172-73 (Utah 1983). In Webster, “the Plaintiff filed an affidavit that impliedly, if not directly, contradicted a critical part of his [earlier] deposition.” Id. at 1172. The Utah Supreme Court held that the affidavit should be excluded from the trial court’s consideration and reasoned that a party may not create inconsistencies with his deposition testimony in the hopes of creating issues of fact. See id. The Court found that “[a] contrary rule would undermine the utility of summary judgment as a means for screening out sham issues of fact.” Id. at 1173. Thus, as a general rule, an affidavit that disputes the affiant’s prior deposition testimony should be disregarded by the court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment.¹⁰

After Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment supported by affidavits of two experts that relied, inter alia, on Dr. Robert Stein’s testimony during his deposition, Plaintiff filed an affidavit of Dr. Stein in opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment in attempt to create an issue of fact. Dr. Stein stated in his affidavit that Defendants’ alleged breaches of the standard of care “resulted in a direct consequence to the health and condition of Plaintiff’s eyes and caused her to sustain both a significant

¹⁰ See id.; see also Guardian State Bank v. Humpherys, 762 P.2d 1084, 1087 (Utah 1988); Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Cunningham, 10 Utah 2d 329, 353 P.2d 168, 170 (1960); Gaw v. State By and Through Dept. of Transp., 798 P.2d 1130, 1140-41 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

and a permanent loss of vision that she would not have otherwise sustained in the absence of their negligence.” (R398) In contrast to his affidavit, however, Dr. Stein testified during his deposition that, even with the best of care, patients with glaucoma may suffer vision loss. (R252) Consistent with the premise that glaucoma may cause vision loss even with non-negligent treatment, Dr. Stein conceded that he could not state to a reasonable degree of medical probability whether Plaintiff would have suffered the same visual field losses she currently experiences even with the best of care. (R243-45, 249-58) He also admitted that he is unable to quantify the amount of vision loss or damage caused by the alleged breaches of the standard of care in this case. (R262).

In summary, to the extent Dr. Stein’s affidavit attempts to establish a causal link between Plaintiff’s vision loss and defendants’ treatment of her glaucoma, his affidavit is necessarily contradicted his deposition testimony. See, infra, note 1. Plaintiff cannot create issues of fact to defeat summary judgment by proffering an affidavit which is inconsistent with or contradicts prior deposition testimony.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ADDRESS *TINGEY V. CHRISTENSEN* BECAUSE IT IS DISTINGUISHABLE AND SHOULD NOT APPLY TO MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS.

In order to overcome summary judgment and eliminate her prima facie burden with respect to causation, Plaintiff now argues, for the first time, that a doctrine borrowed from automobile personal injury actions applies in this medical malpractice action.

Although Plaintiff failed to raise the argument below¹¹, she now claims it is Defendants' burden to apportion the vision loss caused by her pre-existing conditions (glaucoma, cataract, diabetes, noncompliance) and the vision loss caused by an alleged breach of the standard of care. Plaintiff relies on the automobile accident case of Tingey v. Christensen, 1999 UT 68, 987 P.2d 588 to support her argument.

In addition to not addressing the burden of proof for medical malpractice claims, the procedural posture of Tingy is inapplicable to this case in which the District Court concluded Plaintiff cannot prove causation. In Tingey, the defendant conceded liability and admitted to causing the automobile accident in which the plaintiff was injured. As part of her claim, the plaintiff requested damages for aggravation of a pre-existing injury (unlike here where Plaintiff's vision problems could be caused by ongoing conditions). The District Court rejected the plaintiff's request to instruct the jury that if the jury could not apportion the damages than it could find the defendant liable for the entire amount. The Utah Supreme Court determined that Utah law supported the plaintiff's requested jury instruction, but found the error to be harmless. See id. at ¶15.

The Supreme Court's ruling was based on several legal principles. See id. at ¶14. Importantly, in terms of its application to this medical malpractice action, the Court relied

¹¹ Plaintiff has waived the right to argue that Tingey v. Christensen, 1999 UT 68, 987 P.2d 588 applies to this case by failing to raise this argument below. Accordingly, the Court should decline to consider its application here.

on the following: “once the fact of damage is established, ‘a defendant should not escape liability because the amount of damage cannot be proved with precision.’” Id.

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